1. Abe Bornestein

Day #1, 1940: Abe is a Jewish carpenter with his own business living in Poland. Hitler’s Nazis have invaded, and Abe and his brother try to escape to the Russian border but are caught by the Ukrainians and forced back to a German site; they are still free. The brothers return home and try to convince their parents to try to escape again to Russia. Because of Stalin, Abe’s parents refuse to go. His brother, Isak, however, leaves and succeeds in escaping. Abe feels obligated to stay with his parents and his long-term girlfriend, who he plans to marry.

Day #2, March 8, 1940: Today is Abe’s wedding day. It should be a very happy time, but the young couple are anxious. The Germans have established two ghettos in their town, and they are moving to one today as soon as the brief wedding ceremony is over. This is no time for a reception or family celebration. By nightfall, the couple are sharing a two-room apartment with Abe’s family in the ghetto.

Day #3, 1941: Six weeks ago, Abe and his wife welcomed their first son into the world. Even though the conditions in the ghetto have been extremely difficult, they were still ecstatic over the birth of their first-born child. But then the conditions in the ghetto became too much, and the baby became very ill. Abe and his wife risked their lives to moving to a larger ghetto where they found a doctor. But it was no use; today, the baby died.

Day #4: Abe and his wife were able to bring two cows with them to the ghetto. They sell the milk to feed themselves and the cows, but people are still hungry, and many are shot while trying to go out and buy food. Night is the worst, when cries of, “Mama, I’m hungry,” can be heard throughout the ghetto, and so many have died from starvation or from being shot that the Poles have organized a group whose sole job is to clean up the bodies littering the streets.

Day #5, early in the year, 1942: The Germans notice one of the cows owned by Abe’s father does not wear an earring of registry. The German officials torture and beat his father, then shoot him. His last words are, “My children,” then, in Yiddish, “Here, O Israel, the Lord is my God! The Lord is One!”

Day #6: Abe has a job in a shoe factory and carries a certificate for coming and going to work outside the ghetto. Today, as usual his wife walks him to the end of the ghetto and kisses him goodbye. But about a half an hour later, armed S.S. surround the ghetto. Abe and three other Jews watch from the shoe factory as the S.S. round up everyone living in the ghetto. Abe discovers that no Jews were supposed to have been let through the ghetto gates that morning, but he and the three other Jews were accidentally missed and slipped through. They watch as women and children are shot or marched in the direction of the train station. By nightfall, the ghetto is empty. 

Day #7: Abe and the other Jews are not allowed to return to the ghetto. He makes his new home at the shoe factory. He is almost shot today when he is mistaken for another man who runs back through a crowd and into the ghetto. The other man is lost in the crowd; Abe is finally let go when the S.S. determine he is not the same man who escaped. 

Day #8: Today the S.S. herd everyone left in the factories back into the ghetto. A selection begins, go to the left or to the right. It is easy to see that the right is the good side. Abe is chosen for the good side. The rest are forced into a mass group and shot. Those selected for the right side are marched to a leather factory. Abe finds himself in a new job and a much smaller ghetto.

Day #9, January 13, 1943: The ghetto is surrounded today by S.S. No one is allowed out to work. It is another selection. Today, Abe is selected for the train station. He is deported to Buchenwald concentration camp.

Day #10, April 29, 1945: Abe and the other prisoners notice a white flag in front of the camp. They realize they are free, but most cannot get up from the cement floor. Everyone looks like skeletons. The first American doctor comes in, and they try to greet him, but the sound is like yelling cats. Abe is feeling sick. The doctor says he has T.B. Abe is put in a sanatorium.

2. Isak Borenstein

Day #1, March 23,1942: Isak is a Jew who comes from Radom, Poland. When the Germans invaded Poland in 1939, he escaped to Russia, leaving his family behind. He and his brother had escaped once before, but were caught and sent back to Poland. He has escaped for a second time, but his brother, Abe, stays behind with his girlfriend and parents. When the Germans invaded Russia, Isak joined the Russian army to fight against the Germans. Today, his troops are sent to a place near Kremenchug, but before they can get a chance to fight, they are surrounded by Germans and captured. Isak is with 35 other Jews. The Germans begin picking out the Jews and shooting them, so Isak decides to change his last name on the spot to a Polish name, Broniewski. He is marched with the remaining Russian prisoners of war to a prisoners-of-war camp. Along the way, Isak manages to escape and is taken in and aided by a Russian woman.

Day #2: The Russian woman sends Isak in the direction of a safe town; the name of the town translates to “five houses.” Here, Isak is able to get a small job working for a hospital in exchange for bread and soup. He meets other Russian partisans who meet in underground efforts against the Germans.

Day #3: One of Isak’s partisan Russian friends, Romanoff, has a tendency to drink heavily. Last night, Romanoff got drunk and began talking too much. Nearby Germans heard him talking and put pressure on him to tell everything about the partisans. Under torture, Romanoff gave up the names of 60 people, and Isak is one of them. Today, he is arrested in a forest and taken to a prison. They still do not know he is a Jew.

Day #4: Isak has been in the “death chamber” basement prison for 10 days. When he arrived at the prison, someone said he looked like a Jew, so they put him in the basement prison. The chamber is about 6 feet wide and 25 feet long. The dark room is made completely of bricks, aside from one space created by the removal of one brick taken out for air. In the past 10 days, the Germans have brought in three Jewish transports. All the Jews have been taken out and shot. Isak has been beaten daily; the Germans are trying to make him confess to being a Jew. He has instead remained silent.

Day #5: Today, Isak is given a freezing cold shower as part of his torture, then beaten with a leather strap until his skin turns the color of wood. Then comes the worst: The Germans want to check to see if he is circumcised; if he is, they will know he is a Jew because only Jews are circumcised. But Isak quickly makes up a story, telling the Germans that when he was a child, he was a bed wetter, which embarrassed him. He tells them he had tied a string around his genitals to stop the bed-wetting. The Germans accept his story, and one says, “This guy has been beaten so much that if he was a Jew, he would already have confessed.” They move him upstairs to a regular cell.

Day #6, 1943: Isak is put into a labor camp. He meets Jews who are taken to a washroom and undressed, with nothing left on but their socks. Potato sacks are put over their heads and they are taken away on trucks. No one yet knows Isak is a Jew. He dreams about the other Jews leaving on trucks, faces hidden under potato sacks.

Day #7: The Russian army is nearing, so the prisoners are taken to Auschwitz, where the train stops for half the day, but there is no room in Auschwitz. Isak and the others are taken to Mauthausen. As soon as they are off the train they are separated: Good, you go to work; bad, you go to the ovens; half-bad, you go to the hospital. Isak is lucky. He has typhoid and goes to the hospital.


Day #8: A Polish doctor recognizes Isak as Jewish and wants to help him; he knows Isak will die if he stays in the camp. Today, he gets him on a transport to a sub-camp where he is put to work in a factory.

Day #9, April 1945: The guards get everyone up early today and load the prisoners on a train. There is talk of the Americans coming. Around noon the train is stopped in a little town called Wels. Suddenly an American soldier looks down into our open train car.  He orders the prisoners to gather up rifles and break them and to take the S.S. prisoners back to the closest camp, Linz III.  Isak is too weak and cannot follow the orders, but he goes inside a store where he finds a 10-pound bag of sugar and makes sugar water.

Day #10: For three days Isak feeds himself on the sugar water then decides to go home. But a Russian soldier takes him into the Russian army, where over the next 14 months he is fed and gains strength. Finally, Isak returns to his old home in Radom, Poland. 

An old neighbor has a letter from Isak’s older brother, Abe, who was the only other Borenstein to survive the war. He had survived Buchenwald concentration camp and was sick. He is recovering in a sanatorium in Germany. When Isak goes to see him, he tells the people there that he wanted to surprise him. When Abe comes down, Isak sees a broken man. It is hard. He does not recognize him. He is just a broken-down man. 

In the letter his brother tells him that after Isak left Radom for Russia at the beginning of the war, the Germans had come looking for him. When they couldn't find him, they looked up another Jewish boy who lived near the family who had the same name as Isak did-- Borenstein. While Isak and this boy were not exactly friends, they knew each other. The Germans took him out and shot him by the door of his house, saying, “a Borenstein is a Borenstein.”

3. Reginald Brugh

Day #1, Nov. 17, 1943: Reginald is a native of Germany and a member of the SS who has been assigned to security detail within Dachau. Originally, he privately did not support the Nazi party and instead joined the military primarily as a means of employment. Since joining the military, however, he has come to despise the Jews. Today is his first day at his new post in the camp. He is at first disgusted by the condition of the inmates but reminds himself that they are only filthy Jews, and their rank and skeletal condition is to be expected.

Day #2: Reginald is disgusted by the cries at mealtime of a prisoner, #165787. Reginald grabs the prisoner’s ration of bread and eats it in front of him.

Day #3: Reginald learns that the Russians have been successful on the eastern front. Reinforcements are needed and certain SS officials have been assigned to new detail. He is concerned that he may be reassigned to a more dangerous position near the front.

Day #4: Today Reginald writes a letter to the superior commander, Adolf Hitler. It reads: “Honorable Mr. Reichsfuehrer! According to my impression there are at least 2-3 million men and women well fit for work among the approx. 10 million European Jews. In consideration of the exceptional difficulties posed for us by the question of labor, I am of the opinion that these 2-3 million should in any case be taken out and kept alive. Of course this can only be done if they are in the same time rendered incapable of reproduction. I reported to you about a year ago that persons under my instruction have completed the necessary experiments for this purpose. I wish to bring up these facts again. The type of sterilization which is normally carried out on persons with genetic disease is out of the question in this case, as it takes too much time and is expensive. Castration by means of X-rays, however, is not only relatively cheap, but can be carried out on many thousands in a very short time. I believe that it has become unimportant at the present time whether those affected will then in the course of a few weeks or months realize by the effects that they are castrated. In the event, Mr. Reichsfuehrer, that you decide to choose these means in the interest of maintaining labor-material, Reichsleiter Bouhler will be ready to provide the doctors and other personnel needed to carry out this work. He also instructed me to inform you that I should then order the required equipment as quickly as possible.” Later that day, Reginald watches idly as an inmate is beaten to death. 

Day #5: It has been three weeks since Reginald’s letter to the Reichsfuehrer, Today, a response arrives in the post with the following letter: “Dear Brugh, 
It is only today that I have the opportunity of acknowledging the receipt of your letter of June 23. I am positively interested in seeing the sterilization by X-rays tried out at least once in one camp in a series of experiments. 
I submit to you as an enclosure a work of Dr. Horst Schumann on the influence of X-rays on human genital glands. Here is the letter: 
SS-Obersturmbannfuehrer Brandt to Prof. Clauberg, 10 July 1942 
          Today the Reich Leader SS charged me with transmitting to you his wish that you

     go to Ravensbruck after you have had another talk with SS-Obergruppenfuehrer Pohl

     and the camp physician of the women's concentration camp Ravensbruck, in order to

     perform the sterilization of Jewesses according to your method... 
          Thorough experiments should be conducted to investigate the effect of the

     sterilization largely in a way that you find out after a certain time, which you would

     have to fix, perhaps by X-rays, what kind of changes have taken place. In some cases a

     practical experiment might be arranged by locking up a Jewess and a Jew together for

     a certain period and then seeing what results are achieved.”

 Reginald is elated that the Reichsfuehrer has followed his recommendation; he hopes for a near future promotion. Later in the afternoon, Reginald beats an inmate, #246443, for lagging behind his fellow workers.

Day #6: Reginald escorts a boy, Thomas Kline, to speak with his supervising officers.  The boy works in the infirmary and has been stealing rations from patients under his care.

Day #7: Reginald supervises in selection.  Approximately 18% of the total population of inmates are determined to be unfit to continue working.  They will be sent to the crematorium the following week.

Day #8: Reginald under increasing stress due to news of the Russian advance, mercilessly beats an old man, Alexander Miller, who complains of dysentery.  Miller is taken to the infirmary with severe injuries.

Day #9: Reginald discusses plans to evacuate the camp in case of a Russian advance with his superiors.

Day #10: Reginald supervises the hanging of the young, Jewish boy, Thomas Kline.  Plans are underway to liquidate the camp. Reginald orders that, for the sake of efficiency, those prisoners held in hospital be shot. Blocks B, C, and D are to be rounded up by 6 p.m. to begin the march to Sachenhausen.



4. Jeannine Burk

Day #1, 1942: Jeannine and her family are Jews living in Belgium. Her father has found separate hiding places for Jeannine and her brother to escape from the Nazis who have ignored the treaty between Germany and Belgium for Belgium’s neutrality during the war. Today, Jeannine’s father has taken her by streetcar to a faraway house; after stepping from the streetcar, two-year-old Jeannine and her father must walk a long way to the house. Finally, her father knocks on a door, and a woman answers. Jeannine goes inside, leaving her father behind.

Day #2: In this house, Jeannine must usually play inside. Occasionally, she is allowed to go outside in the backyard, but the man and woman living in the house warn her not to go into the front. Ever. She is not mistreated here, but she is not loved. She has heard nothing more about her family.

Day #3: The Nazis love parades. When they have a parade down the street, everyone must open their doors to watch. Today, they have a parade. The lady Jeannine is staying with must open her door and watch. She hides Jeannine in the outhouse. Jeannine is petrified. It is a small outhouse, and Jeannine hides in the farthest corner. She looks through a crack in the front of the outhouse and believes that if she can see them, the Nazis must surely be able to see her. Finally, the parade ends, but the lady waits for what feels like hours before she comes to get Jeannine.

Day #4: Jeannine has no toys at the lady’s house. She makes up imaginary friends because she has no one to play with. She has been with the lady and man for more than two years; not once during this time has she been hugged or kissed. She has not seen or heard anything from her family.

Day #5: Jeannine does not know it, but today the Gestapo have come pounding on her parents’ door while they slept. They have broken down the door and dragged her father out of bed and thrown him into the bed of a truck. They want to take Jeannine’s mother, but she refuses to go without Jeannine’s sister who is in bed in a complete body cast. The Gestapo throw back the covers and see that it’s true. They leave, promising to come back for the two of them.

Day #6: Jeannine’s mother calls a Catholic hospital, and they agree to take Jeannine’s sister. The nuns put her in the isolation ward, where he Germans refuse to enter. Jeannine’s mother, who is blonde and blue-eyed, is able to pass as an Arian nurse and finds a job working in a country nursing home.

Day #7, fall 1944: Jeannine’s mother comes to get her today. It is strange seeing her mother; she has not seen her for two years, since she was two – but Jeannine still feels certain this is her mother. They go to the hospital to get her sister, who has been in the isolation ward for two years.

Day #8: Today, Jeannine’s brother has come home. He has found his way back from hiding. Now everyone waits for their father to return. Jeannine’s sister is learning to walk all over again because she was in the body cast for two years. Good soldiers are on the streets now, and they give the children chocolate.

Day #9: Periodically there are groups of survivors and prisoners of war who come marching home. They must have been reunited in one particular place. Many days Jeannine stands with her brother, sister and mother, waiting for her father. They wait and wait. But today, they find out from an agency that their father has been exterminated, gassed in Auschwitz. If Jeannine had been home when they took her father, she would be dead, too. They would have gassed her instantly. That is what they did to little children.

Day #10, February, 1950: Jeannine’s mother dies. Jeannine is adopted by an American family two years later, but she is still very skinny, 62 pounds with grey skin. 

5. Ernest Cassutto

Day #1, 1941: Ernest has been living in the Netherlands with his family since 1934. Prior to that, his family lived in Indonesia. Although his was a Jewish family, they were by no means active in religious affairs. In May of 1940, Germany invaded Holland, and since then, Ernest and his family have been anxious; they have heard rumors. He and his new wife, Hetty Winkel, have considered making plans to leave the country and escape to Isreal, but they are reluctant to begin a new life and abandon their families in Holland.

Day #2, 1942: The Nazis have demanded that all Jews must register with the Gestapo, so today, Ernest and his wife go to the police station to register. Here, they receive a yellow Star of David which they are required to wear at all times to identify themselves as Jews.

Day #3, summer 1942: Things have become more tense, and the Nazis have been rounding up more and more Jews and “relocating” them to ghettos. Today, Ernest and his wife decide to go into hiding.

Day #4, 1943: Ernest came home today from sneaking out to get bread to find his wife missing. No one has any word as to her whereabouts. By nightfall, Ernest is frantic, but he cannot do anything for fear of the Gestapo.

Day #5: Ernest learns his wife Hetty was arrested by the Gestapo. They have come back today and arrested him.

Day #6: Ernest is painfully humiliated during the Gestapo interrogations. He is taken to the Security Police headquarters in Rotterdam, Holland. He is questioned about the whereabouts of his family, other Jews, and the activities of the Dutch underground. 

Day #7: Today he is placed in solitary confinement in a cell five feet by seven feet with a thick steel door. The yellow Star of David is posted on the door. By listening through the small cracks around the door, Ernest discovers the prison is full of those who have been deemed anti-social by the Nazis: homosexuals, pacifists, and communists, all bound for the firing squad or deportation to slave labor or extermination camps in Germany and Poland. His one meal each day is tulip bulbs and sugar beets fried in grease.

Day #8: Ernest is totally alone, except for a Bible his Nazi captors have allowed him to read and the newfound faith he has discovered while in hiding.

Day #9: Every day Ernest expects to be included in the final deportations of Jews from Holland to the camps in the east. It is whispered that the war is going poorly for the Germans, and an invasion of Hitler’s “Fortress Europe” is imminent. The Nazis are attempting to complete their Final Solution on the order of their leader, Hitler, who is growing increasingly unstable and irrational. Later, a major stir among the cells – there has been an attempt on Hitler’s life!

Day #10: More commotion! Ernest listens as he hears cell after cell being evacuated. It is the final deportation. Slowly, the noises recede, and he knows he is alone in the prison. 
Why have they not taken him? At nightfall, he hears the clamoring of boots. His door is flung open and he is faced by a man in an American uniform. Ernest looks at the door of his prison. Somehow, the Star of David has been removed, saving him from the final export.

6. David Cohen #246443

Day #1, Oct. 3, 1942: David is a German Jew where he has worked as a successful baker. He is a large, healthy man, and today has been assigned to a construction crew in the Dachau concentration camp. His job is to dig latrines for a new influx of prisoners the camp expects in the coming weeks. Although his past as a baker has not trained him for heavy physical labor, today he has held up well over the course of 12 hours of digging. The tattooed number on his forearm reads 246443.

Day #2, Jan. 1943: David has developed an ingrown toenail that has become infected. He continues working but is reminded of the infection by a constant dull pain, which has become more troubling than the gnawing hunger in his belly.

Day #3: At work on the construction crew today, David witnesses a fellow worker break his leg. The injury is severe enough, and the man’s health poor enough, that he is sent to the crematoria instead of the infirmary.

Day #4: Today David receives an additional ration of bread from an ailing friend who believes he will die tonight. David’s friend tells him he has lost his appetite and has no hunger to live.

Day #5: David’s foot has become almost unbearable. He is beaten for lagging behind when he and his fellow workers are marching to the job site.

Day #6: David is finally sent to the infirmary for his foot.  The doctor performs a minor surgery to remove the toenail and dresses the wound.  There is no anesthetic and the pain is excruciating.

Day #7: Selection takes place within the camp.  David is now one of the veterans in the construction block.  Most of the other inmates have either been selected or died from work related injuries.  A few have been reassigned.

Day #8: David’s blanket is stolen by one of the new inmates who has been assigned to his crew.  Several of the new members were not assigned blankets.  David is unable to discover who has his blanket.  It is February.

Day #9: David has developed pneumonia.  It quickly ravages his already deteriorated condition.  He is sent to the infirmary.        

Day #10: David is sent to the crematoria; he is burned alive.

7. Deborah Feldstein

Day #1, May 6, 1939: Deborah is a German Jewish mother with a husband and two young children: Ruth, who is an infant of three months and Samuel, who is three. Her husband operates a small farm. Last night, several SS officers awakened the family in the night, dragged them from their home and forced them into a train. Today, the rumor in their cattle car is that they are being taken to a labor camp.

Day #2, May 7, 1939: Deborah and her family have been in the cattle car two nights. There are nearly 80 people crammed into the car, and most must stand. Deborah and her husband must hold their children. One corner is designated as the toilet where people have relieved themselves and vomited, but the mess has spread over one-quarter of the car, and people slip and further slide through the excrement. The stench is unbearable.

Day #3: The Feldstein family arrives at a camp near midday, and they are immediately separated from each other. Samuel is taken to stand with a group of other children his same age. The baby, Ruth, is taken from her mother’s arms and thrown into a pit. Deborah becomes hysterical and is beaten severely; a blow to the head knocks her unconscious.

Day #4: Deborah awakens on another train among a group of women. Her hair is encrusted with blood, and she aches from the severe beating from yesterday. She remembers her children and weeps uncontrollably. A woman takes pity on her and covers Deborah with her coat. Deborah slips in and out of a sleep in which she is haunted by images of her murdered children.

Day #5: Deborah arrives at the new camp. She learns she will sleep in a large barracks with more than 100 other women. She will be spending most of her days with a group of other farm laborers cultivating the fields. She is glad to have labor to occupy herself; the women are worked hard, but it is only because of the extreme exhaustion that Deborah is able to sleep at night. When left alone, her thoughts continuously return to her husband and lost children.

Day #6: After their midday meal the women are brought to the center of the camp where a gallows has been erected.  Deborah then learns that a number of women from a neighboring barracks had apparently been accused of planning an escape.  Six women are led to the gallows and hung from the neck until dead, all of whom clain to be innocent of the accusations placed against them.  All the prisoners are forced to watch.  Aside from the death of her daughter, it is the most gruesome and unjust spectacle Deborah has ever witnessed.

Day #7: Selection takes place.  All of the women are forced to nakedly display themselves before the camps doctors, who attempt to determine if any of them are to weak to continue working.  Deborah passes, but several of the other women do not.  These women weep bitterly and curse God for taking from them what remains of their miserable lives.

Day #8: When Deborah returns from work the women who had been selected the previous day are no longer there.  Several of the women in the barracks begin to fight over a blanket that was mistakenly left behind by the officers who came to escort the women to the crematorium.  The struggle becomes intense because the nights are cold—the women scratch and claw at one another.  Rebecca turns her head and thinks of her family.

Day #9: The women learn that the camp is expecting a new shipment of prisoners are expected, and that another selection will soon be taking place.  The women of the barracks are relieved of their typical duties for a day and join with other women to spend the day digging a massive trench.  The work is grueling; several of the women who are unaccustomed to physical labor are beaten severely.

Day #10: After another selection that is carried out throughout the camp a large number of women who are deemed unsuitable to continue work are lead to the trench.  Each is shot once in the back of the head and their bodies are allowed to fall in to the trench.  Deborah spends the rest of the day working with some of her fellow laborers to fill in the mass grave. 

8. Eva Galler

Day #1, 1938: Sixteen-year-old Eva lives with her Jewish family in Oleszyce, Poland. Today, they have just heard about Kristallnacht from a Jewish refugee family whom they have given a room for awhile, but they do not believe Hitler will come to Poland. The Polish soldiers sing patriotic songs claiming they will not give up an inch of Polish soil or a drop of Polish blood to the Germans.

Day #2: Sept. 1, 1939: Eva and her family cannot believe what they are hearing. Germany, without a clear declaration of war, has invaded Poland. German planes are flying overhead, and the Gallers take cover in their small cellar.

Day #3, Sept. 14, 1939: In only a few days, the Germans have taken over Poland. The Germans have a treaty with Russia, and the Germans have agreed to let Russia control Oleszyce, where Eva lives with her family. Eva is still able to attend high school, but everyone is nervous. The Russians are enacting new laws, and her father can no longer run his business because it has a religious base, and the Russians do not allow for the practice of religion. Family income comes to a screeching halt. Although her family has been wealthy, they will now have to spend carefully in order to make their savings last.

Day #4, Dec. 1939: Because she is the oldest child, Eva had to try to get a job because her father could not work. But since he was wealthy and considered a “capitalist,” she was not allowed to take a job; only the poor received employment. Eva wrote a letter to Stalin explaining that she was from a large family and that her father was too old to work. She received a reply from his office and was given a secretarial position in the local internal revenue office. Today, already she has been advance to a new position: assistant assessor.

Day #5, June 1941: This morning, Sunday, Eva awakens to the sound of gunshots in the street. She runs to the window to see German motorcycles driving down the main street, shooting right and left. Everyone on the street is killed immediately.

Day #6: Every day there is a different decree. All the Jews must now wear armbands so they are recognized as Jews. The armbands are white with blue Stars of David sewn on them. Jews are not allowed to walk down the sidewalks but have to walk down the middle of the street. The street is not paved, so when it rains, it becomes mud. If they do not do as they are told, they will be killed immediately. Even their friends are turning against them.

Day #7: Even though she wears the armband, Eva is still allowed to work, although she receives no pay. Instead, she receives bread, which she finds is better than getting money. She brings the bread home and gives everyone a piece. Her little brother looks for crumbs on the floor because he is so hungry and wants more. Today, the city drummer beat his drum and announced, “All the Jews must assemble in the city square. If they find someone missing, they will be shot.” When they arrive at the city square, Eva and her family see a fire in the middle. The whole inventory from the synagogue is burning, the prayer books, the Torah scrolls, everything is burning. When they look around, they see that all the town’s synagogues are on fire and all their friends and neighbors are laughing, which hurts more than what the Germans did.

Day #8: Everyone lives in hunger and fear, but they are still in their own homes. People make hiding places in their houses to hide from the Germans. Eva and her family have a hiding place in the attic behind a double wall. They go there every time they see the Germans.  But today, the city drummer announces that all the Jews must take what they can carry and walk seven kilometers to the next town of Lubaczow where there is a ghetto. The Gallers walk with the rest of the neighboring villages Jews to the ghetto, where they are assigned 28 people to a room that is 12 by 15. Eva considers their family lucky; they have a roof over their heads – many do not.

Day #9, January 4, 1943: The Gestapo arrive today and begin chasing the Jews from their houses for deportation. The Gallers have heard about the crematoriums, but they still cooperation when they are put on a cattle train. There is no room to sit. A boy tears the barbed wire from the train window. The young people start to jump out of the window. Many jump. Eva can hear the S.S. on the rooftop shooting at them with rifles. Eva’s father says to the oldest children, “Run, run – maybe you will stay alive. We will stay here with the small children because even if they get out, they will not be able to survive.”  Eva and her brother and sister jump out the window. Eva can hear the S.S. men shooting at them. She lands in a snow bank, but is not hit. When she does not hear any more shooting, she goes back to find her brother and sister, Berele and Hannah, shot dead. She rips the Star of David from her arm and runs back to her town.

Day #10:  A friendly Gentile woman hides Eva in a cedar closet until dusk. She gives her a loaf of bread and tells Eva to leave; the Germans will kill her if they find out she’s hiding a Jew. She walks 32 kilometers through the woods and makes her way to Cracow, where she and other young people are caught and sold into slave labor. But they do not know she is a Jew. Eva is sent to work on a farm, where she works as a hard laborer for the remainder of the war. Of the 3,000 Jewish families in her town, 12 survive.

9. Rachel Gunstaldt

Day #1, 1940: Rachel has been a happy child living in Brussels, Belgium, until the German invasion. Lately, she has been forced to wear a yellow star but Rachel refuses to wear it because other children won’t play with her when she wears it. Today, her parents have received official notification that she can longer attend school.

Day #2, 1941: The Gunstaldt’s landlady has a nephew who is a priest. He assists Rachel’s family in placing her in a convent where they hope to hide Rachel from the Nazis. Today, Rachel’s parents take her to the convent and leave her with strangers.

Day #3: Rachel has not seen her parents for a long time, but today is her birthday, and what a surprise! Her father has been able to come to the convent and bring her presents! She is so happy to see her father. He brings her three books, a coloring tablet and pencils. Her father stays only briefly then quietly goes out, and a nun closes the gate behind him.

Day #4: After six months at the convent, today the nuns have moved Rachel to a new convent. Now she has new names and faces to learn, but at least they are kind. She has not heard about or seen her family since her father brought her gifts on her birthday.

Day #5: Rachel is now at another new convent. She is given religious instruction in Catholicism in case she is found out so she will know about Christianity. The nuns and priests are kind to her, but she still misses her family.

Day #6: Today Rachel has had a terrible scare. The Gestapo came. The nuns are not allowed to see men, but the Gestapo pounded on the door and said, “We want her! We want that Jewish child! We know you have a Jewish child.” The nuns said absolutely not – we don’t have anybody. But the Gestapo broke the door. Six nuns with a carrying a tremendous basket of laundry three to each side push Rachel into the laundry and pile the linen on top. She is saved.

Day #7: Rachel is placed with a caring foster family, where she is cherished and loved. She arises early to attend Mass because it reminds her of the safety of the convent.

Day #8, 1945: Rachel and her foster family celebrate the end of the war, although she still has no word of her family.

Day #9: 1946: Rachel’s mother has returned from Auschwitz! She is so emaciated Rachel does not recognize her. She is angry with her mother for abandoning her to strangers. Her loving foster parents try to explain the circumstances of her “abandonment,” but Rachel still harbors a grudge.

Day #10, 1947: Rachel has forgiven her mother and understands that if her parents hadn’t hidden her, she would have doomed herself and her mother to death in the gas chamber. After a difficult recuperation, her mother married a survivor. Rachel writes about the birth of her new brother in her diary, “Because of the two of them with ‘the number’ and coming from hell and they had this beautiful boy -- it’s, after that I think I believe in God when I think about my brother.”

10.  Joseph Heinrich

Day #1, Nov. 9, 1938: Joseph is one of 10 children born to a middle class Jewish family in Frankfort, Germany. By 1937, when Joseph was 13 years old, his four older brothers and sisters and already left Germany to settle in Palestine. Today, Joseph stands by the window of the house where he was born watching while the Gestapo burn the synagogue across the street. The square is crowded with thousands of spectators. Later, the Gestapo burst into Joseph’s home and smash everything with axes. Joseph’s family runs to the police for help, but the police laugh. Joseph’s family finally find shelter in the home of an aunt.

Day #2, Nov. 10, 1938: From his aunt’s window, Joseph and his family watch as the Nazis arrest Jewish people all day long. In the evening, they hear a knock on the door; the Nazis have come to arrest Joseph’s uncle. Joseph’s father tells the Nazis he won’t allow his brother, Joseph’s uncle, to be taken alone. The Nazis say, “fine,” and take Joseph’s father, too. A few hours later, Joseph and his sister go to the police station looking for their father. They are told to “get lost.”

Day #3: Nov. 15: Surrounded by much weeping, Joseph’s mother sends Joseph and his little sister Lorle and his younger brother Asher to Holland so nothing will happen to them here. They leave today with a group of about 25 children, organized by another Jewish woman. The oldest of the siblings traveling, Joseph feels the full weight of the responsibility of his younger brother and sister.

Day #4, Nov. 17: Today, Joseph and his brother and sister arrive by train at the Dutch border. Two S.S. men take them off the train and take them to a waiting room. All the Germans have to leave the room because Jews and Germans cannot be in the same room together. Joseph is 14 years old, Lorle is 8, and Asher is 12. Another child is there also who looks to be only 3 or 4. The Germans tell them there is no toilet, no water fountain, not anything. The Germans also say the children cannot cry; but right away, the little ones start crying. They are not allowed to leave the room.

Day #5: Joseph and the others are put on another train, the Reingold Express. They cross the border into Holland and are met at the station by a committee of journalists and photographers who ask them about the conditions in Germany. The children tell everything about the arrests and the burnings.

Day #6: All the time in Germany, Joseph was not afraid; it was more of an adventure. But now that he is in Holland, it is very hard. He realizes all at once that something is irreversibly broken. He cannot imagine the future.

Day #7: Today people looking out for the children have told them to write letters home letting our parents know that they have arrived safely. They want the children to stay in touch with their families by writing every week. Joseph writes his letters.

Day #8: early 1939: Joseph receives a letter from his parents. His father was imprisoned in Buchenwald concentration camp, but he was set free because he managed, through a cousin, to get an affidavit for entrance into England – a very difficult thing. But he returned with the affidavit back home to Joseph’s mother in Germany. 

Day #9, September 1939: Germany has invaded Poland. Joseph hears through a letter from a cousin that his mother has insisted that his father use the affidavit to escape to England. Joseph’s father has left, but his mother has been arrested; she had no affidavit.

Day #10, November 1939: Another letter. Joseph’s father was arrested for being a German as soon as he landed in England. He has been put in a concentration camp with Nazis. He is held there for nearly six years, until after the war, when he is finally released and reunited with Joseph in Holland.

11.  Alicia Jurman

Day #1, Sept. 1, 1939: Nine-year-old Alicia is a Jew living peacefully with her parents and four brothers in Poland. Today, Germany invades Poland in a blitzkrieg! Everything is turned upside down as the country defends itself in war.

Day #2, June 1941: The Germans break their pact with the Soviets and sweep through eastern Poland on their way to Russia. Today, Alicia’s father is killed during the fighting.

Day #3: A ghetto is created to “contain” the Jews of the city and surrounding areas. Alicia, her mother, a younger brother, and two older brothers are forced to leave their beautiful home to be “resettled” in the worst section of Buczacz where the Jewish ghetto has been created.

Day #4, winter 1941: Today while Alicia is visiting a Jewish friend in the ghetto, the Gestapo kick the door in and order everyone out. Her friend’s father is a doctor who begs that Alicia be allowed to return home. His pleas are ignored, and everyone in the apartment is swept out, taken to the train station and loaded onto a cattle car.

Day #5: After several hours on the train, feeling the worst is about to happen, the Jewish adults spread the bars over the single window and push the children out, hoping they might survive. Alicia is one of those pushed through the window; it saves her life. The train is headed for the extermination camp. She follows the tracks back to her town and home. Her older and younger brothers and mother are ecstatic to find her returning alive.

Day #6: Alicia’s 17-year-old brother Zachary feels angry and helpless about the German activities and he has joined a loosely organized resistance group. Alicia is horrified to hear that he has been betrayed by a Polish friend and has gone into hiding. 

Day #7: Zachary has been caught and hanged right in front of the police building for everyone to see. Late at night, Alicia is brought to the place by her friends. They cut him down and bury him in the Jewish cemetery.

Day #8, spring 1943: The Germans are satisfied there aren’t enough Jews remaining alive to justify the ghetto to continue. The order is given that all remaining Jews are to be transported by horse and wagon to a new ghetto. Alicia, her mother, younger brother and other Jews are able to avoid the transport by hiding in a bunker in their home.

Day #9, three weeks later: Another sweep of the ghetto to roust in hiding Jews. Alicia begins to climb to the attic to hide because there is no time to get to the bunker. On her way, she hears a baby crying. She goes back to the room where the babies are hidden and tries to quiet the baby with a little tea. But two S.S. men have heard the crying, enter the room and shoot the baby in the mouth. They take Alicia away to be shot, but she breaks free and runs and runs and runs.

Day #10: Alicia has been able to remain hidden from the S.S. They were too lazy to run too far after her. She has made her way back to the bunker with her mother and brother. They remain hidden for the remainder of the war, packed like sardines with very little food and water, constantly living in fear of being discovered.

12.  Thomas Kline #172591

Day #1, 1941: Thomas is the son of a prominent Jewish attorney from a small German town and who in 1940 were rounded up and forced into a ghetto. Six months ago, they were brought to a Polish work camp, where Thomas has been assigned cleaning duties and the lucky job of bringing food to patients in the camp infirmary. Meanwhile, his father and some fellow inmates plot to escape the camp.

Day #2, Nov., 1941: Thomas learns through the camp secret grapevine that his father and other conspirators have been found out and shot.

Day #3: Thomas is beaten for forgetting to perform some of his duties at the infirmary. He periodically weeps for his father. He is constantly hungry. The number on his arm reads 172591.

Day #4: Thomas has to help hold down a patient while the man’s leg is amputated. The man is fully awake, and the surgery is performed without anesthetic. Thomas watches as the man dies from shock or blood loss; he can’t tell which.

Day #5: Thomas turns 17 today. He mentions the significance of the day to no one. He steals food from a patient who is sleeping and feels a momentary guilt which vanishes when he slips the food between his lips.

Day #6: Today Thomas is caught stealing food.  He is escorted to see the camp officials by Reginald Brugh.  He is whipped with 20 lashes and blacks out from the pain.

Day #7: Today Thomas is informed that he will be transferred to a construction barracks.  He spends the day digging a latrine; it is grueling work.  At night he has no blanket.  It is so cold he is unable to sleep.

Day #8: Thomas is beaten at work for lagging behind his fellow inmates.  He has not yet adjusted to his new assignment.  At night he steals a blanket from an older man while he sleeps.

Day #9: At work Thomas falls and wrenches his knee.  He is taken to the infirmary, but the doctors who remember him believe that he is exaggerating his injury.  He is sent back to work.

Day #10: Thomas’s knee is swollen and discolored.  He is beaten again at work.  When he explains that he is unable to work because of his knee he is again sent to the infirmary.  Again the doctor’s do nothing.

13.  Helene Melanie Lebel

Day #1, 1933: At age 19, Helene has not been feeling her usual self. She is having moments of depression and confusion. She is the daughter of a Jewish father and Catholic mother and has been raised as a Catholic in Vienna, Austria. Growing up, “Helly” loved to swim and go to the opera and has recently entered law school. But lately, her parents have become concerned about her mental state. 

Day #2, 1934: Helly’s depression has not improved; in fact, it has deteriorated so much that she has given up her studies at school. She is still able to maintain her job as a legal secretary, but even that responsibility is becoming strained.

Day #3, 1935: Helly loses her job as a legal secretary because she misses so much work due to her mood swings. Her depression deepens, and she spends most of her time in bed in her room. Her family seems to be keeping certain things from her. She notices that conversations stop when she enters the room, and she has heard them whispering Hitler’s name and what he is doing about the “Jewish problem.” Helly is half Jewish. She wonders if she is the “problem.”

Day #4: Helene loses her trusted fox terrior, Lydi, and suffers a major breakdown. Her parents take her to the doctor, who immediately refers her to a psychiatrist.

Day #5: Helene is placed in Vienna’s Steinhof Psychiatric Hospital and remains there for two years, although her condition has slowly improved. Her parents have hopes that she will return home soon.

Day #6, March 1938: Austria is annexed to Germany. The Vienna Steinhof Psychiatric Hospital is now run by the German state.

Day #7, 1940: Although Helene has made great improvements, she is not allowed to go home. Her parents are led to believe, though that she will soon be released. They make arrangements for her long-anticipated homecoming.

Day #8: August 1940: Helene is transferred to a converted prison in Brandenburg, Germany. She is undressed, subjected to a physical exam, and led to a shower room.

Day #9, November 1940: Helene’s mother is informed that in August Helene was transferred to a hospital in Niedemhart, just across the border in Bavaria. 

Day #10, December 1945: Helene’s mother, in desperate search for her daughter, is directed to the records of the Brandenburg “Euthanasia” Center. Here she reads that Helene is one of 9,772 persons gassed at the center in 1940. She was officially listed as dying in her room of “acute schizophrenic excitement.”

14. Simon Levil

Day #1, April 9, 1940: Simon is a German Jew who is one of the first to arrive at Buchenwald. He originally came from a wealthy family, and when he first arrived in the camp, was able to buy himself certain favors. Today, Simon has been put in charge of a barracks of inmates. He is now a kapo.

Day #2: Today, Simon welcomed a group of new inmates assigned to his block. He new inmates replace a large number of Jews who were sent to the crematorium last night. Simon tries to be friendly, but shortly after meeting with them, retires to his private room. He has seen too many die to justify dedicating time to learning all their names.

Day #3: One of the new inmates, Alexander Miller, asks Simon for some shoes. Since Simon would have to make a special request of his superiors, he tells the man there are no other shoes.

Day #4: One of Simon’s charges dies during the night. He and two other men carry the body to the crematorium in the morning. There the body is taken from them and disposed of in the furnace. The men who have accompanied him are horrified by what they see and give each other furtive glances. For Simon, though, this is routine.

Day #5: Two of the men under Simon’s care begin to quarrel. Simon decides to report them to his superiors, even though he knows what the result will likely be. The men are immediately sent for and are not heard from again.

Day #6: One of his inmates has developed debilitating dysentery--Simon cannot remember his name.  Several of the other inmates have complained, many have threatened violence.  Levil assumes that the circumstances will sort themselves out and makes no attempt to protect the ill inmate.

Day #7: Doctors and SS troops arrive in order to evaluate the inmates for selection.   Levil knows that at least seven of his men will be sent to the crematorium.  He explains how selection is to take place and tells the men that he thinks everyone will pass even though he knows they will not.  False hope seems better than no hope.

Day #8: Several men who have been selected come to speak to Levil about what will happen to them.  He explains that the men will likely be assigned to lighter duty for a period of time, and that then their will be an additional selection that they might possibly pass.  This is a lie, Levil knows the men will be burned alive in the furnaces before the week is out.

Day #9: Levil cannot stand having to face the men who have been selected.  He feels happy knowing that today they will be taken from their work and that he will not have to see them back at the barracks in the evening.  He tells the men to have hope before they leave for work.  The fact they have not been taken away is a good sign--another lie.

Day #10: Levil greets several new inmates.  He gives them the same lecture he always gives new inmates.  Once again he doesn’t bother to learn their names. 

15.  Lili Jacob Meier #A-10862

Day #1, May 26, 1943: Lili and her family have been deported from Bilke in the Carpathian Mountains to Auschwitz-Birkenau. Today, her train rolls onto the spur track that leads under the main watchtower of Birkenau. Lili and the other dazed people are ordered to get out of the boxcars. There is a selection. Most are sent to the left. Lili is young and strong, a potentially good worker, so she has been sent to the right, torn away from her mother and the rest of her family. She tries to rejoin them but is stabbed in the arm by an S.S. and sent back to the right. She has been processed and sent to the Hungarian women’s camp, where she is tattooed with the number A-10862.

Day #2: Lili is awakened before dawn by the command to line up for roll call. Confused about her surroundings, it takes Lili several seconds to remember where she is. In the meantime, the barracks around her have almost magically emptied. Lili rushes to get in line and finds herself last to get in place for roll call, for which she is beaten about the legs with a truncheon by the Kapo. Lili falls and is beaten across the back for failing to stand. She forces herself to rise, her shins bloody and bruised. As further punishment for being late, she is stripped of her mealtime privileges.  There is no bread or soup for Lili today.

Day #3: Lili painfully receives her tattooed number: A-10862.

Day #4: Lili is given a job in the garden, which requires digging and planting and weeding all day with no tools. It is difficult work but not impossible, and she is thankful that she doesn’t have to stand as she works because her legs can still barely hold her up because they are still severely bruised from the beating.

Day #5: Lili finds an old carrot buried in the garden from last year. She is so surprised and thankful that at first she quits working, which brings a club down across her back. The beating causes her to fall across the carrot, barely visible beneath the dirt. She is again thankful, since this means no one else will see it. She stealthily hides the carrot in her clothes to eat later.

Day #6: Today Lili is ordered to wait behind after the rest of the prisoners are marched to their work. She thinks about the carrot she stole but thinks it is worth the beating she will receive. But the kapo says nothing about the carrot. Instead, he orders her to follow him to the cellar of the main commandant’s house. He opens the doors leading into the dark cellar below and throws her down the steps, slamming the door behind her. Lili is left in complete darkness.

Day #7: Lili has been in the darkness a long time, but she cannot count the hours. She is thankful for the time to rest, although she knows she has missed her soup and searches blindly with her hands for grubs in the damp cellar dirt. A slit of light suddenly cuts the darkness, a door slams and heavy boots pound closer. A match is struck and Lili finds herself looking into the face of the commandant. He throws himself on top of her, and Lili closes her eyes, thinking of nothing. When he is done, the commandant tosses an old bone next to her crumpled body and says, “Here. The dog is done with this,” and stomps back up the stairs.

Day #8: The kapo has brought her back to the barracks and beaten her for missing a day’s work and for stealing a dog bone.

Day #9: Rumors of the Russian army’s approach are circulating through the camp. Auschwitz is evacuated, and Lili is transported to Dora, a sub-camp of Nordhausen, nearly 400 miles away. She weighs 80 pounds.

Day #10: Dora is liberated. Lili is carried by fellow prisoners to a newly vacated S.S. barracks and put on a bed. She awakens alone and out of curiosity, looks into the cupboards beside the bed. Inside is a frayed photo album. In the album she sees a photograph of Naftali Svi Weiss, her own rabbi from Bilke. As she turns the pages she sees the faces of the other members of her community and her own family. Later, she donates the album to the Holocaust Museum in Israel, Yad Vashem.

16.  Alexander Miller #A-33862

Day #1, 1943: Alexander is a 56-year-old German Jew, although he looks much younger. Today, he has just arrived at labor camp and is immediately separated from his wife. He has no idea what has become of her. Although he has not been a practicing Jew, he finds himself praying to a God whom he is uncertain he believes in. He lies about his age and avoids eminent death at the initial selection. He goes to the right; his wife goes to the left.

He is assigned inventory work, and he is thankful because it is a not heavy work.

Day #2: Alexander asks Simon Levil, the German Jew who supervises his barracks, for some better shoes. The ones Alexander has are far too small and cause him great pain. He is told there are no other shoes.

Day #3: At work Alexander’s direct supervisor, Heinrich Snyder, a non-Jewish German civilian, compliments him on his work ethic. Alexander is told that it is fine if he removes his shoes while working. It is a good day. The number on his arm reads A-33862.

Day #4: Alexander awakens feeling ill. Though his work is not particularly physical, his supervisor notes that his performance has been affected. Mr. Snyder is not pleased.

Day #5: Alexander wakes with dysentery. Mr. Snyder allows him to leave work so that he can visit the infirmary, but there is little the doctors there can do for him. Mr. Snyder allows Miller to continue working for him, though his illness makes things difficult.

Day #6: Alexander has taken to complaining a great deal at work.  His coworkers are disgusted by his health and discomfort.  They stop talking to him.

Day #7: Alexander lies about his health and manages to pass selection.  He feels weaker with each passing day.  Several of the men in the barracks where he sleeps have begun to call him names. 


Day #8: While complaining of his health to some of his fellow inmates, Alexander draws the attention of Reginald Brugh, a SS officer.  Brugh becomes so disgusted with Alexander’s complaining and soiled clothes that he proceeds to beat him.  Brugh is cheered on by the other inmates and Alexander is beaten almost to death.

Day #9: Alexander awakens in the infirmary.  He is told that he can stay for several to try to recover his strength, but he receives little attention from the doctors.  He has lost a great deal of blood and is unable to eat any solid food or drink--the dysentery continues to be a problem.

Day #10: Alexander dies from his injuries.

17.  Edmund Mills 

Day #1, Nov. 1944: Colonel Edmund Mills is an American officer who began as a First Lieutenant in the 65th Division of Patton’s Third Army during WWII. Most recently, Col. Mills has fought through most of Germany into Austria when his unit, with the 11th Armored Division, stopped to wait for Soviet troops coming east from Vienna. Today, the division’s tanks have been probing for German forces that may be hiding out in the area.

Day #2: After several days searching for enemy German forces, three of Edmund’s tanks stumble upon Mauthausen concentration camp. They are completely surprised. A half-day’s travel behind the tanks, Edmund gets word about the troops finding the camp -- accompanied by horrifying rumors of the prisoners’ conditions.

Day #3: Late last night, Edmund arrived at Mauthausen. While the lighting was not good, he could see well enough the deplorable conditions of the camp, and even if he had not been able to see anything, the stench alone would have been evidence enough. In fact, had he only relied on his sense of smell, he believes he would have thought all the prisoners dead and rotting. As it is, in the light of day today, he sees the walking dead all around him – prisoners who only by the grace of God still stand and live. His shock at the sight is so overwhelming that he finds the scene dreamlike and unreal.

Day #4: After first walking into a barrack today, Edmund’s first reaction is to turn around and walk back out again to catch his breath. The stench is overwhelming. He does take a deep breath and is able to walk further inside and look around. In the bunks lining the walls lie forms of human beings in very pitiful shape. The bunks are unbelievable, roughly built, about six feet long and three-and-a-half or four feet wide. They are triple-tiered, like bunk beds children would have, except with children, only one child would sleep in a bed. Here, Edmund sees three and four inmates sleeping in each bed, side by side, squeezed in like sardines.

Day #5: The soldiers in his unit who speak German and Yiddish are helping Edmund communicate with the prisoners. Today, he is shown the quarry where many of the prisoners were slave laborers. They show him a two hundred foot drop from a precipice at the bottom of which are jagged stones strewn with broken and decomposing bodies.

Day #6: “One hundred eighty-six steps of death that led from the bottom of this quarry up to the top of this precipice,” Edmund writes in his journal. The prisoners have told him through the interpreters that the quarry was one of the worst tortures. He cannot get the picture, nor what the prisoners have related to him, out of his mind. Inmates carried the heavy stones up the one hundred and eighty-six steps of death, weighing only eighty, eighty-five, ninety pounds and carrying stones weighing perhaps thirty-five, forty, forty-five pounds, up the steps, all day long. If they fell or stumbled or dropped the rocks, very often they were beaten to death.

Day #7: The prisoners have spoken the names very clearly of the camp officials who committed the atrocities. Edmund takes all the names down, careful to get every single name and the details of every crime. There are hundreds. Thousands. He calls for more men, simply to make an account, a record, of what the prisoners are saying.

Day #8: Edmund visits the nearby town to question the civilians living there. They deny any knowledge of the camp. Edmund knows they certainly must be lying, since the inmates noted that many times they were marched through the town.

Day #9: Today, Edmund is able to make several arrests of S.S. Even though prisoners are able to point them out and name them, none of the S.S. admit to any crimes.

Day #10, June 1946: Edmund testifies at the war trials of several of the S.S. but expresses his belief that justice has not been served, since so few of the perpetrators are being tried and of those sentenced, even fewer are executed. Edmund observes that none of the S.S. soldiers or camp officials express any remorse for the atrocities committed.

18. Joseph Muscha Mueller

Day #1, 1938: Joseph is an orphan Gypsy who has been taken into foster care by a family living in Halle, Germany. He is six years old in a school where he is often made the scapegoat for pranks in the classroom and is called “bastard” and “mulatto” by classmates who are members of the Hitler Youth movement.

Day #2, 1944: Two strangers come into Joseph’s classroom and tell him he has appendicitis and needs immediate surgery. Joseph is 12 and knows what appendicitis is. He knows it is very painful, but physically, he feels fine. He knows he doesn’t have appendicitis, but the two strangers insist, and Joseph is too fearful to argue. He goes out obediently with the men.

Day #3: Joseph is put in a truck with twelve other boys, some of whom he recognizes as other Gypsies. They are taken to a plain brick building and herded inside. The boys are made to wait in a small room, and one by one, a doctor with a mask comes to take them away. No one comes back. With only three boys remaining, the doctor finally comes for Joseph and takes him to a room with an operating table. He is told to remove his clothing and lie on the table. The doctor bends over him with a scalpel to begin the sterilization process. Joseph is given nothing for the pain. He feels the room spin, then everything goes black.

Day #4: Today Joseph awakens stiff and still bleeding. Another boy who also has undergone the surgery tearfully explains yesterday’s operation. He also tells him the procedure is completely legal, since the Nazi law allows forced sterilization of “asocials,” a category that includes Gypsies.

Day #5: The Nazis do not even allow time for Joseph and the other boys to heal before they are loaded onto a truck which takes them to the train station. Ninety boys fit in one car on the train if they all remain standing. It doesn’t matter to Joseph; no matter what his position, he is in dire pain. He falls asleep to the rhythm of the moving train while still standing. Pinned between the other boys, he cannot fall down.

Day #6: The train stops at a station with the words Bergen-Belsen painted across the first building. Some of the boys are actually happy. They will be able to move again, freed of the confines of the train car. But nothing happens, and they remain in darkness. 

Day #7: Joseph is lurched away by the sudden forward movement of the entire group. Blinding light pours into the car as the door is hurled open. The boys fall out like a sack of potatoes. They are beaten into groups. Left. Right. A truncheon comes down on Joseph’s head, beating him to the left. They are lined up and directed to walk start walking, with truncheons coming down on anyone who is slow or trips up. Joseph concentrates on looking straight ahead and avoiding the blows. He suddenly has a strange moment of joy when he realizes he no longer feels the pain of his surgery. It’s a miracle, he thinks, that he’s already healed. He keeps walking and notices a great fire pit to his right. The Germans are throwing babies into the pit. He keeps walking, being sure he is not next to be thrown into the flames. His group arrives at a barracks and they are assigned four to a bed. He lies down, thankful for sleep.

Day #8: At home, Joseph’s foster father is frantically searching for his boy. He had made arrangements for Joseph to be smuggled out and hidden. Now all he knows is that Joseph was taken to hospital for surgery. No one knows anything more.

Day #9: Joseph’s foster father learns of the transport to Bergen-Belsen.

Day #10: The barracks are rousted before daylight. The order is to undress and line up. They are to shower before reporting for work detail. The commandant announces they will receive fresh clean clothes and a full meal before being assigned to gardening work. If you want to eat, you must work, he says. Work, will make you free, but first, you must shower. Relieved, Joseph gets in line with the other boys and follows the commandant to the showers.

19.  Fela Perznianko

Day #1, Dec. 1939: Fela, along with her Jewish husband, Moshe, and four daughters, moved to Warsaw, Poland, three years ago because they were attracted by the city’s cultural life. Three months ago, Germany invaded Poland, and Moshe suggested the family escape to Palestine, but Fela resisted the idea since she was hesitant to begin a new life in a foreign land. Recently, the Germans passed a new law that all Jews must wear white armbands bearing the blue Star of David. Today, all of Fela’s family received their armbands and are wearing them for the first time.

Day #2, Nov. 1940: Fela and her family have become accustomed to the armbands, but today, they are forced to move into a ghetto. They find the arrangements are that their family will live in one room of a house. Several other families occupy the other rooms in the house. For the sake of her children, Fela tries to remain optimistic.

Day #3: Food is scarce, and the days are passed sitting in the house and talking. They are not allowed to go out past dark.

Day #4: Yesterday there was a massive roundup of Jews. The family cowered in their room waiting for the Gestapo to storm in. All through the night they waited, afraid to sleep, nearly afraid to breathe. With dawn this morning came silence. The Gestapo are gone, and Fela and her family have survived one more day in the ghetto. 

Day #5, 1942: The Gestapo have come again, rounding up more Jews. By hiding in a bunker, Fela, Moshe and their children have once again avoided by caught and sent on a transport. But fewer and fewer Jews remain. And less and less food.

Day #6: April 1943: Fela, Moshe and their children are seized in a final roundup. Fela and Moshe are separated from their children and placed in a line with other older adults.  They are quickly executed.

Day #7: The children watched yesterday as their parents were shot. They have been placed on a transport to Bergen-Belsen. They cling to each other. Other children wail. They have all lost their parents in yesterday’s execution.

Day #8: One of the smaller boys has climbed onto the shoulders of one of the taller boys and has separated the barbed wire covering the window. Children begin dropping like flies from the window. Fela and Moshe’s children hear the shots of the S.S. firing at them. Perhaps the children have made it? The S.S. can’t possibly hit them all. There is a heated discussion as to whether they, too, should jump. Today, nothing is decided.

Day 9: In the night, Zola, Fela and Moshe’s oldest, has made the decision for everyone. They all must jump. Zola first, followed by the two youngest, Peter and Sarah, and Sirah, second oldest and last, to be certain everyone gets out. They decide to jump while it’s still dark, when the S.S. won’t be able to see them. Zola goes through the window first. There is a shot followed quickly by a piercing cry. Then silence. The children change their minds and decide to remain on the transport.

Day 10: The names of Peter, Sarah, and Sirah Perznianko are added to the extermination list.

20.  Jan-Peter Pfeffer # C-362885

Day #1, 1939: Jan-Peter’s family are German-Jewish refugees who have escaped to the Netherlands to avoid Nazi dictatorship. They have been in the Netherlands since 1934. Today, Jan-Peter’s grandparents and uncle escape Germany and join them in the Netherlands. Jan-Peter is five years old.

Day #2, May 4, 1940: It is the day after Jan-Peter’s birthday. Today, his grandmother is sent to a camp called Westerbork.

Day #3, Nov. 1940: Jan-Peter and his parents are sent to Westerbork. They ask around for word about Jan-Peter’s grandmother but hear nothing about her. Jan-Peter is tattooed with the number C-362885.

Day #4, Dec. 1940: Jan-Peter’s father tells him he has received word about his grandmother. She was gassed upon her arrival at Westerbork in May.

Day #5, winter 1941: Jan-Peter and his family are sent to a faraway ghetto called Theresienstadt. Jan-Peter is cold, scared and always hungry. 

Day #6: The Pfeffers are considered fortunate. At Theresienstad they are allowed their own barracks; Jan-Peter’s father held of position of authority in the Jewish community, so he is given special privileges. Others must share many to a barracks. Some of the other Jewish boys glance sideways at Jan-Peter, as if they fear him, although they never speak to him.

Day #7: Jan-Peter’s parents have told him not to be afraid. It has been promised that they will not be transported to a death camp. He is reassured. He has just passed his eighth birthday but he and his parents have forgotten it.

Day #8: Jan-Peter’s job is to sort clothing. It arrives at Theresienstad nearly on a daily basis and comes from Jews “who don’t need it anymore” his mother tells him. He sorts shirts and pants, jackets and underclothing. It will be donated to needy Germans who have been bombed out, she tells him. 

Day #9, May 18, 1944: Jan-Peter’s father is distraught. They had been promised the family would not be transported, but now they are being told to report immediately to the trains. The commandant has reassured him that they will receive special treatment upon arrival at their new camp, Auschwitz.

Day #10, July 11, 1944: Jan-Peter and his family receive their special treatment at Auschwitz; they do not have to wait longer than six weeks before they are gassed. 

21.  Edith Pollicki

Day #1, Jan. 1944: Edith is the youngest of six children in a middle class Jewish family from Czechoslovakia. Up until this time, her family had not experienced anti-Semitism, and her brother had served in the Czech military, emigrating to Israel soon after. Edith and her family have heard rumors of atrocities in Poland ever since the German occupation of Hungary, but they find the rumors difficult to believe, especially since Edith’s father is a Judenrat. Today, Edith’s family is beginning to have serious doubts. The Gestapo has invaded their home and forced them and all the Jews to move to a brickyard, where they will now live in a ghetto. As Edith looks around her, she finds the conditions terrible.

Day #2: Today, Edith and her family have been rounded up and marched to the train station. Here, they are herded into cattle cars, crammed tightly together, with standing room only.

Day #3: After four days in the stifling cattle car, the family arrives at Auschwitz. Before departing from the train, Edith’s father tells her that those who survive should work and keep their principles. As soon as they disembark, the family is separated, and Edith soon finds herself in a barrack with her head shaved and wearing camp clothes.

Day #4: Edith’s sister-in-law has been able to make arrangements for Edith to join her in a different block. Edith is relieved to at least be in the company of a familiar face, although she finds Auschwitz hell on earth.

Day #5: Edith finds the silence of Auschwitz to be unbearable and the night, a barely living hell. The prisoners are awakened at three in the morning. When Edith looks at the morning sun that rises at four or four-thirty, instead of seeing a bright red sun, she sees a black sun. Each morning she gets up to see not life, but destruction.

Day #6: Today Edith and her sister-in-law are transferred to Salzwedel and assigned work in a munitions factory.

Day #7: Edith is elated! She has obtained a new job in the kitchen. Now she will not always be starving.

Day #8: Edith has discovered that she is able to smuggle scraps of food to her fellow prisoners. She feels she is more herself again. She is able to eat a little more, and she is able to share it. She is determined to conduct herself so her family will be proud.

Day #9, April 14, 1945: The camp is liberated by American troops. Among the troops is the first African-American Edith has ever seen in her life, to whom she feels eternally grateful.

Day #10: Edith learns her entire family has been exterminated. She emigrates to the United States and marries an American.

22.  Solomon Radasky #128232

Day #1, April 18, 1943: Solomon is a furrier making lambs’ wool jackets in the Jewish ghetto for the German army. His mother and one sister have already been taken from the ghetto in Poland and killed: The Germans had come demanding gold and furs from people in the ghetto, and Solomon’s mother had said she had none. The Germans shot her and Solomon’s older sister. In 1942, Solomon’s father was also shot in the back while smuggling food through the wall in the ghetto. Today there has been another selection, and the Germans have come for Solomon. But Solomon is lucky: a Volkdeutscher has told the Germans Solomon is a good worker. They take someone else and allow him to stay.

Day #2, May, 1943: Today, a friend tells Solomon that he saw one of Solomon’s sisters working at a Schult’s shop about three miles away. Solomon wants to go see her, but doesn’t know how he will manage it. A Jewish police officer tells Solomon he could get a German soldier to go with him to see his sister and bring him back. It will cost 500 zlotys, a lot of money, but Solomon agrees. They set a date for two days from now.

Day #3: Today is the day Solomon has arranged to visit his sister. The soldier puts him in handcuffs and walks behind him with a rifle as if Solomon is a prisoner. But when Solomon arrives at the Schult’s shop, he cannot find his sister. The soldier who brought him to this ghetto is gone, and Solomon finds himself stuck there. German soldiers surround the ghetto.

Day #4: Today, there is an uprising in the ghetto, and Solomon is shot in the right ankle. The bullet penetrates the meat but not the bone, so he is able to keep his leg. Still, because he is now “damaged goods,” he is sent to the train station for deportation, not to a labor camp, but to the Treblinka extermination camp.

Day #5: Upon Solomon’s arrival at Treblinka, the S.S. men leading his group are told that Treblinka can only accept 10,000 people per day; Solomon’s group has 20,000. They cut off half the train and send it to Majdanek concentration camp – another death camp.

Day #6: Solomon is given a striped shirt and pants and wooden shoes and sent to Barracks 21. The man in the bed beside him tells him he was a doctor in Paris and he can help Solomon’s leg. Miraculously, the man takes out a pocket knife – absolutely no one could possibly have a knife in the camp, but this man did – and removes the bullet. He tells him to use urine on the wound as an antiseptic.

Day #7: Solomon is given field work detail. The laborers must remove their wooden shoes and walk on the sharp rocks to the fields, and Solomon finds many are bleeding before they reach the fields. After several days of the hard field work, some cannot take it anymore and fall in the road. If they do not get up, they are shot. After work, Solomon and the rest of the laborers must carry back the dead. If 1,000 went out to work, 1,000 must come back.

Day #8: Solomon is transferred to Auschwitz. There is immediately a selection and some of them are gunned down in the field. They are left to rot; they are not taken to the gas chambers.

Day #9: Solomon is put to work caring twenty-foot lengths of iron for building the railroad track. The work and the capo were murderous. One day Solomon falls and cannot get up. He is taken to hospital. “It is very bad here,” he is told. “Dr. Mengele comes two times a week to make selections. You must get out of here.” Solomon immediately applies for another work detail: Carrying sand to Birkenau to cover the ashes of the dead. As he works, he watches the Germans pick up children by the head, arms and feet and throw them alive into the flames of the crematory.

Day #10, January 1945: With the Russians closing in to liberate the camp, the Germans decide to move the prisoners to Gross-Rosen camp and then on to Dachau. The train ride there is terrible; the prisoners eat snow for water. A man’s son goes crazy. He grabs his father by the neck and chokes him to death. They are given a slice of bread and a cup of coffee at night. Nearly five months later, May 1, Solomon is liberated.

23.  Marion Schuella

Day #1, May 10, 1940: Marion is the daughter of a Dutch judge father and English mother and lives in Amsterdam, Holland. She and her family are proud of the Dutch tradition of helping victims of religious persecution, and they are disappointed that the Dutch government did not make it easier for Jewish refugees from Europe to enter Holland. Today, Germany has invaded Holland. It is a magnificent spring day which contrasts sharply with the events taking place during the invasion.

Day #2: Today, another anti-Jewish law is implemented. Her friends are no longer allowed to attend school. Marion and her family encourage their Jewish friends to go into hiding.

Day #3: On her way to classes at the school of social work, Marion sees a truck being loaded with Jewish children from a Jewish refugee home for children. The children range in age from about two to ten years old. The German men laugh and joke while picking up small children by their arms, legs, and hair and throw them into the truck. Two women attack the Germans, trying to stop them, and they are thrown into the truck, too. She makes a decision then and there that she will do whatever she can to help the Jews.

Day #4: Marion’s father is one of many who participate in a workers strike in opposition to the German’s treatment of the Jews. One hundred fifty of the strikers are shot. Marion’s father is spared, but the massacre sends both a jolt of fear and determination to stop the Germans through Marion. She pleads with her father to give her work to help save the Jews.

Day #5: Marion’s father arrives with news. He has three Jews who must at once be hidden. Marion agrees to meet with the local priest about an arrangement to hide them in the church’s cemetery. She is back within the hour. They have arranged to empty a tomb of several coffins. The Jews will be able to hide in the tomb, and between Marion and her family and the priest, they will smuggle them food.

Day #6: After several furtive meetings with the priest, Marion and her family have decided to create a pathway of escape routes for fleeing Jews. They will provide documentation, hiding places, food, money, shelter and connections. The priest, Father Gurst, has a connection with a high ranking S.S. He will be their liason and will provide authorization for correct papers. Marion’s role will be the currier. Because she is young girl, she will be the least suspected.

Day #7: Marion is called to collect a book from Father Gurst. At the rectory, he hands her a thin text and stresses to her that she read it very carefully. At home, Marion immediately examines the book, leafing through it and shaking it to find any notes the priest may have hidden inside. Finally, as she reads the words, she notices tiny letters intermittently placed among the paragraphs. She spends hours decoding the message. It is from the S.S. general. They have Nazi uniforms and the correct papers for five people. Marion will need to find a way to collect these valuable items.

Day #8: In the deep tunnels beneath Amsterdam, Marion stands with five Jews. One man is very fearful and distrustful. After all, a Nazi general is standing before them; surely he will shoot them. Marion talks quietly to him, explaining again that this man is helping them, at risk to his own life. He has brought them uniforms and papers, proof that they are not Jews. They will be acting as Nazis themselves. The Jew is revolted. He does not want to pretend to be a Nazi, even if it means his life will be saved. Marion speaks to him firmly, rationally, peacefully. She reminds him that if he does not put on the Nazi uniform, he is condemned to die. If he does put it on, he only might die. The man thinks a moment, hesitates, then takes the uniform.

Day #9: Marion goes to the tomb in the cemetery to deliver a basket of food, chocolates, and book. The three have been hiding in the tomb now for 18 months.

Day #10, September 1945: Marion is a social worker in a displaced persons camp. She meets with those who have lost their homes and families, helping them to rebuild their lives and reconnect with anyone who may have survived from their hometowns. She is later designated as one of the “Righteous Among Nations” by Yad Vashem for her risking her own life to save many Jews in Holland.

24.  Sarah Schwartz #C274419

Day #1, 1942: Sarah is 13-year-old with a twin sister. She is a Jew, and in the course of four days, her family has been arrested, confined to a cattle car and taken to a work camp. Immediately upon arrival at the camp, Sarah and her sister are separated from her parents. Mrs. Schwartz begs to remain with her children; she is struck down by a Nazi officer, and Sarah’s sister Rebecca is torn from her mother’s arms. Rebecca and Sarah are herded onto another cattle car on a second train. They lose sight of their mother and father, as the doors slam shut behind them.

Day #2: Sarah and her sister are loaded onto another train car, packed in with other children. It is freezing, and the sisters huddle together for warmth. There is no food or water all day. Once, the train stops, and a German officer slides open the door, counts them, and slams the door shut.

Day #3: After 3 nights on the train, Sarah and her sister arrive at a new camp. The facility seems well maintained. The two are lead to a barrack where they are told they will spend their nights. They meet other children, all of whom are twins, but several appear ill. They are taken to the showers and given new clothes. Sarah receives a painful tattoo, #C-274419. Rebecca is number #C-274420.

Day #4: Sarah and her sister awaken with the rest of the girls, two of whom are taken away by the rest of the guards. The rest of the girls silently watch as the two are marched away. Sarah and Rebecca are taken to the kitchen where they are put to work scrubbing huge kettles used to prepare the soup the children are fed at mealtime. After scrubbing for 12 hours, they are marched back to the barracks, where they are served a thick soup prepared in one of the kettles, which they will scrub again tomorrow.

Day #5: The girls hear a rumor about what has happened to the two girls who were previously taken away. They are apparently being held in isolation in separate cells in complete darkness. An inmate who passes their cells daily to deliver food to other inmates has been able to report on their condition. They are being deprived of food and water – he has been commanded not to give them anything. The German doctors want to see if the twins are likely to expire at nearly the same time or whether there will be a significant difference between their endurance. 

Day #6: Sarah cannot sleep.  She cannot stop thinking about the two twins locked alone in the darkness without the hope of ever seeing each other again or the light of day.  Sarah spends most of the night using her shoe to crush lice and other bugs that crawl upon the wall beside her.

Day #7: While they first hated the chores to which they were assigned in the kitchen, the girls now realize that it was a blessing in disguise.  The children are only provided with two meals a day, both of which primarily consist of a sort of potato soup and bread.  Most of the children who have been at the facility for a considerable length of time appear skeletal.  Sarah and Rebecca are able to scrap some additional nourishment each day from the sides of the massive cauldrons that they clean—the burned remnants of potatoes that are stuck to the sides of the iron pots.

Day #8: Today the barber visits all of the girls who are recent arrivals; he shaves their heads.  Sarah cries softly when it is her turn.  She later learns that this is a common practice that is repeatedly periodically.  Apparently the hair can be used to make socks and a few other items that can be used to equip the German army.

Day #9: Today Sarah and Rebecca are separated.  Two officers come and take Rebecca away in the early morning.  Her sister accompanies the two men, remaining calm, though Sarah knows she will never forget the resigned look on her sister’s face—she is fully prepared to die.  Later that day Sarah later hears rumors of terrible experimental medicines that the doctors are experimenting on the children with.

Day #10: A new girl has replaced Rebecca at her usual place in the kitchen.  Sarah does not speak with the girls although she appears friendly and makes an attempt to introduce herself.  After work Sarah tries to get some answers out of some of the officers, but her questions lead nowhere.  She will never see her sister again and never learn what happened to her.

25.  Heinrich Snyder

Day #1, Sept. 1941: Heinrich is a German accountant who took a job working for the German government in Auschwitz. He is unmarried and is satisfied that this new job pays better than his old one. Heinrich has a small number of Jews whom he oversees during the auditing process. He is not particularly religious, but has some qualms concerning the way the Jews are being treated. Today, Heinrich is provided with a new worker to help him catalog inventory. The man’s name is Alexander Miller. He to the new man the work he is expected to do, then Heinrich spends the rest of the day updating supply records.

Day #2: Heinrich witnesses several guards severely beating a man in the early morning on his way to work. The sight disturbs him, but he does not interfere.

Day #3: All last night Heinrich thought about the man he saw savagely beaten. He decides to speak with his supervisors. He is told not to concern himself. He is asked if he is a Jew sympathizer, and the officer he reports to takes notes. Heinrich feels uncomfortable and decides he will not report incidents such as these in the future.

Day #4: While taking an inventory of kitchen supplies, Heinrich discovers one of his auditors stealing food. He knows the man should be reported but decides to remain silent. He manipulates the numbers to cover up the missing goods.

Day #5: Another of his auditors, a man named Alexander Miller, tells him he has developed dysentery. The man’s clothes are soiled, but Heinrich is afraid that if the illness is reported, the man might be more likely not to pass the upcoming selection. He allows Alexander to continue working even though it is clear his presence makes the other men uncomfortable.

Day #6: Due to pressure from his superiors Heinrich feels pressured to complete the project at a faster pace.  He is unable to acquire additional workers however.  Some are beginning to believe that he is to easy on his subordinates.

Day #7: Heinrich walks to the courtyard after lunch and watches as a young child is executed.  He begins to hate himself for working for a government that could justify murdering a child.  

Day #8: The pressure to hurry the work is becoming unbearable.  Heinrich begins to feel paranoid and fear his superiors.  He wishes he had never taken the job.  He is unable to sleep well at night.

Day #9: Heinrich learns that one of his subordinates, Alexander Miller, has been savagely beaten.  He leaves to be by himself after receiving the news.  He weeps softly.

Day #10: Heinrich is told that he will be receiving a new subordinate; he can only assume that it means Alexander Miller is dead.  He makes plans to leave the camp as soon as he can possibly find another job.

26.  Jonathan Solomon #137121

Day #1, Feb. 5, 1942: Dr. Jonathan Solomon is a Jewish dentist and originally a native of England who was forced to leave a thriving practice he had established in France. Today, Jonathan spends the entire day removing golden crowns form the teeth of newly arrived inmates. 

Day #2: Today, an SS officer calls Jonathan to his offices. He is in agony over a tooth that needs to be extracted. For the first time, Jonathan is able to use new instruments and a sedative to relieve pain. After extracting the decaying tooth, Jonathan returns to the camp to use his rusty pliers on his patients and nothing to dull their pain.

Day #3: Jonathan learns that the officer he worked on the previous day has reported him and lodged a formal complaint. He knows that his skill make him valuable to his captors, yet even so, he lives in constant fear that there will be repercussions from this report.

Day #4: On his way to work, an officer Jonathan does not recognize walks up behind him and strikes him with a club. He is struck only once, and the officer leaves him without speaking a word. As Jonathan lies on the ground, his eyes fall on the number tattooed on his arm: 137121.

Day #5: While taking an inventory of his medications, Jonathan realizes that a significant amount of a powerful pain reliever is missing. He can come to only one conclusion: Someone must be stealing his supplies. This is a very serious matter. Jonathan knows he will personally be held responsible for any missing supplies.

Day #6: After a typical day at work, Dr. Solomon returns home to the barracks where he bunks and after socializing briefly with some of his neighbors prepares to sleep.  He is awakened in the night by the sound of someone sobbing.  When he speaks to the man in distress he learns that selection will take place the following morning.  The man who is crying is convinced that he will not pass and will be sent to the furnaces.  Solomon manages to console the man and gets him to stop weeping, but neither is able to return to sleep.

Day #7: In the morning a German medical doctor comes to the barracks accompanied by several SS officers--selection begins.  Solomon’s work wears less on his body than some of the others.  Several of the men, including the one Solomon comforted last night, have their numbers recorded.  The man Solomon knows begs the doctor to reconsider, and he is struck in the head by one of the officers.  The blow is fatal.

Day #8: While at work, Solomon accidentally comes upon a young boy stealing medications from the cabinet where they are kept.  Solomon strikes the child and orders him to return to his work.  Several minutes elapse before Jonathan is able to get his hands to stop shaking.

Day #9: After taking a day deliberate Solomon decides to report the theft.  “What choice do I have?” the doctor asks himself.  He cannot be held responsible for crimes he didn’t commit. 

The officer to whom he reports the theft shakes his head solemnly and records a few notes.  He thanks Solomon for bringing this matter to his attention promptly.  Jonathan returns to work, where he is unable to look the boy in the face.

Day #10: Solomon learns upon arriving at work that the boy has been relieved of his duties.  It is not until after work that by inquiring of the boy’s relatives he learns his fate.  The child is to be hung from the neck until dead.  The authorities have chosen to make an example of him.  Solomon begins to wonder if he is any less humane than his captors.

27.  Yosef Strapinski #165787

Day #1, 1943: Yosef is a Jewish native of Poland who worked as a tailor. Today is at least as horrible as yesterday, for he spent the night having nightmares about his young son and wife, who were immediately torn from his arms when they arrived at the camp called Auschwitz. He cannot stop worrying about their fate. He was marched to the left and into a barrack where his head was shaved. He was then crowded into a large shower, deloused, and then given a striped shirt and pants of the wrong size. His arm was tattooed with the number 165787. A filthy dentist peered into his mouth, and using the pliers clenched in his hand, ripped out three gold crowns. While the pain was excruciating, nothing has compared to his worry over his family. Today, he has been assigned to garden duties. 

Day #2: Yosef’s mouth is causing him agonizing pain. The gums are bloody and swollen, and he has still not heard anything about his family. At the evening mealtime, an SS officer, Reginald Brugh, steals his bread and eats it in front of him while Yosef weeps in pain and grief.

Day #3: Yosef is able to eat a carrot from the garden where he workds during a brief period in which he is unsupervised. It is a good day.

Day #4: Yosef watches as an inmate is clubbed to death. Forgetting himself, Yosef pleads with the kapos attacking the man to stop. He is clubbed in the head for his interference and knocked unconscious.

Day #5: Yosef again has his ration of bread stolen, this time by an inmate. The larger man overpowers him. In the future, Yosef plans to make every effort to eat his food as quickly as possible so it won’t be stolen.

Day #6: Since his arrival in the camp Yosef has lost nearly 40 lbs., despite his ability to occasionally sneak vegetables at work.  Considering that he was a slight man to begin with this fact is rather alarming.  He constantly tries to find ways to steal food at work.

Day #7: Yosef fails to pass selection.  His name and number is recorded.  He asks his supervisor what will happen to him, but he is never told.

Day #8: Despite being selected the day passes as it normally does.  Yosef begins to think that he may be mistaken in believing he was selected.  He spends most of his time at work praying that he is correct.

Day #9: Today Yosef is taken from his place of work and directed to the crematorium.  He weeps uncontrollably.  He watches as Jews are placed into the furnaces and cremated alive.  He is unable to sleep.  

Day #10: Yosef is placed in the furnace.

28. Selma Wijnberg

 Day #1, June 1937: At 10, Selma is the youngest of four children and the only daughter. She lives with her family in the town of Zwolle in the Netherlands. Her parents run a small hotel which is popular with Jewish businessmen traveling in the area. Today is Friday and, as usual, there is a cattle market in the town, and many of the cattle dealers come to the Wijnberg’s hotel for coffee and business. Selma enjoys these Fridays, when she gets to visit with the businessmen and hears news from around the region. Lately, the news they are bringing is unnerving; Jews are being arrested more and more frequently for the most inconsequential reasons. One businessman reports of seeing a man randomly beaten on the sidewalk for no other reason than that he looked a German in the face. 

Day #2, November 1939: Selma’s family continues to observe the Jewish traditions, even though many non-Jews are frowning on the open practice of Judaism. Selma’s mother is very religious, and the hotel observes the Jewish dietary laws. At the end of Friday evening prayers, the family gathers around the table and sings Hebrew songs. Tomorrow will be Saturday, when Selma’s family will attend synagogue, which has not yet been forbidden in the Netherlands. Everyone is talking about the invasion of Poland and what has happened to the Jews there. Many say it cannot happen here.

Day #3, May 1940: Germany invades the Netherlands. Immediately, the synagogue is shut down and numerous laws are implemented against the Jews. Her family now all wear stars on all their clothing.

Day #4: The hotel has been taken over by the Germans. Selma and her family have been moved to the newly established ghetto, where they share an apartment with three other families. In the ghetto, food is scarce, and the rations provided by the Germans are not enough to feed one person, let alone a family of six. 

Day #5, 1943: Today, all the Jews are ordered with their belongings out into the street. Selma’s second oldest brother, Ishtak, refuses to go without the family’s beloved little terrier, Otto. He holds the dog under his arm as he stands in the line formed by the Jewish families in the ghetto. A German soldier walking past glances over, sees the dog, and before anyone can say or do anything, rips Otto from Ishtak’s arm and throws the dog to the ground and shoots him. Otto lies dead at Ishtak’s feet all afternoon while they wait to be “processed.” Selma stars down Otto but cannot look at her brother for fear she will burst into tears and be next to be shot.

Day #6: The family, along with the rest of the Dutch Jews from Zwolle, are crammed into a transport train. In their car alone, they have counted 80 people. Selma leans stands wedged between her mother and father on both sides and her brothers Ishtak and David in front and in back of her. Her mother leads them in prayer. Not usually religious herself, Selma finds herself praying fervently. Each time the train stops, they can hear the Germans shooting from the top of the train.

Day #7: Today, after three days and three nights, the train has arrived at a camp – Sobibor. After several hours, the door to the train car opens, and the S.S. immediately begin beating them with whips, herding them out of the train and down a ramp. Selma finds herself separated from her family. She sees a wagon like that used by coal miners which is being loaded with young children and people who cannot walk. They are thrown into the wagon, and Selma watches as they are taken directly to a building with stairs leading below ground and a tall smokestack behind it. She tries in vain to search for her family through the crowds, but the S.S. are forcing her group toward a brick building, where she is stripped, shaved and given striped clothing. She is placed in a line and sent to what the Jewish man in charge calls Camp #1.

Day #8: At the end of her second day at Sobibor, everyone is gathered for roll call in the open area of Camp #1. There is a fire from Camp #3; the stench of burning flesh is overwhelming. Someone next to Selma asks, “Do you know what that fire means?” Selma shakes her head. The person next to her explains it is the funeral pyre of the transport that came in yesterday. Then, the Germans order them all to dance as couples, while another prisoner plays the violin.

Day #9: Selma has learned that of everyone on the transport from Zwolle, only she and nine others have been chosen to be kept alive for work. The rest were in the pyre, including her entire family.

Day #10 1945: After two years in the camp, Sobibor is liberated. Selma is the only native Dutch inmate to survive the Sobibor extermination camp.

29. Yona Wygocka

Day #1, Sept. 1939: Yona is the oldest of four children in a working-class Jewish family in Pabianice, Poland. Today, a ghetto has been established in the family’s neighborhood, and all Yona’s extended family have been moved in with Yona’s family. The Gestapo have confiscated all their valuables, and some of her family have been seized and taken to labor camps – all in one day.

Day #2: Yona is finding it more and more difficult to share her home with her large, extended family. Today, she had to share her bread at supper with her cousin. Yona thinks about ways to hide tomorrow’s bread so she won’t have to share. She cannot stop thinking about being hungry.

Day #3: Today, the Pabianice ghetto is being emptied. The Gestapo stormed the houses and ordered everyone out in the street. They were then taken by transport to the train station, where Yona’s family was loaded on a cattle car. All their hurriedly packed suitcases are taken from them, and they are told their belongs will be returned to them when they arrive at the labor camp where they’re being deported. For once, Yona has forgotten her hunger; today, she feels only fear. 

Day #4, May 1942: Yona and her family arrive at a new ghetto called Lodz. Yona feels such relief that it is not a labor camp that the feeling of hunger comes back to her twice as demanding as it ever was before.

Day #5: Today, Yona has been called to work in a factory along with her younger sister. Her job is to sew clothing from morning until dark. It is long, tedious work, but it helps keep her mind occupied. 

Day #6, May 1944: At age 14, Yona has been sewing clothes for two years, going into hiding whenever the Germans came to deport more Jews. As a seamstress, Yona hopes to be considered an “essential worker,” one who will not be deported.

Day #7: Today, the Gestapo burst into the factory, and before Yona or her sister can do anything, they are shoved into the street and forced into the back of a truck. They are driven to the train station and loaded onto cattle cars.

Day # 8: They arrive at Auschwitz. There is an immediate selection, and Yona’s sister is sent to die. Yona is sent to work in an airplane factory in Germany.

Day #9: After nine months in the airplane factory, the American have begun bombing. Yona is put on a train for Mauthausen concentration camp.

Day #10: Following 10 days with little food and no water, Yona is liberated in Mauthausen by the Americans.

30.  Anna Wyzcholivicz

Day #1, 1942: Anna and her brothers and sisters are part of a Gypsy theatre group in Germany. Today, they are rounded up and taken to a camp near Leipzig, Germany, and told they will be resettled in Poland. They feel themselves lucky to be placed on a train’s passenger car and not a cattle car. Anna and her siblings are excited about the fun train ride.

Day #2: Anna arrives with her family at a camp called Auschwitz-Birkenau. The barracks are all empty, and the yard is full of mud. They sink to their knees in filth, but they are all soon required to line up in a barracks where everyone’s hair is shaved. Outside again, they are required to remove all their clothing – in front of other adults and children. Anna is humiliated; she can’t imagine what her parents are thinking. They are marched into a huge shower, where freezing water pours down upon them. They are given striped clothing that does not fit; Anna must roll her sleeves to show her hands. They are told there is a children’s nursery. Will they be sent there? What does a nursery at Auschwitz-Bikenau mean?  

Day #3: First thing in the morning, Anna and her brothers and sisters and all the other children are separated from their parents. Some parents scream when their children are taken away. Anna watches as a mother is shot while still clutching her child in her arms. Anna is afraid to say or do anything. Somehow, she finds that she is moving along with the rest of the children toward another barracks. Two barbed wire fences and a great, muddy yard separate the children from their parents. If they look closely, Anna and her brothers and sisters can see the shape of their mother passing among the prisoners at roll call. The children vow to stay together at all costs.

Day #4: The second day in the camp, there is an immediate selection first thing in the morning. All of Anna’s brothers and sisters are selected and taken directly to the crematorium.

Day #5, March 1944: Anna is selected for a transport to Ravensbruck.

Day #6: Within six months of arriving at Ravensbruck, nothing is left of the camp. Everyone has died or is nearly dead. Those remaining are taken to ammunition factories at Schlieben near Buchenwald. Anna is given the nightshift. Anyone falling asleep who doesn’t make production is sent back to Auschwitz.

Day #7: Anna is transferred to Buna to work but fails to meet the production rate. She is sent to Auschwitz but is able to trade places with a woman who wants to be with relatives at Auschwitz. She does not realize that everyone who is sent back to Auschwitz is immediately gassed. 

Day #8: Anna is taken to Bergen-Belen, which is reputed to be worse than Auschwitz; people die like flies there.

Day #9:  Anna comes down with pneumonia and pleurisy but is placed in a prison barracks, not an infirmary. No one cares for her.

Day #10: The British liberate the camp. Anna is taken to a hospital where she stays recovering for eight months. She returns to live in the liberated Bergen-Belsen camp for two more years because she has no one left, nowhere else to go.

